
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and 
Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020) came into force on Saturday 4 April 2020 to enable 
councils to hold remote committee meetings during the 
Covid 19 pandemic period. This is to ensure local authorities 
can conduct business during this current public health 
emergency. 
 
This meeting of Council will be held remotely under these 
regulations, via the Zoom application and will be webcast to 
ensure accessibility by the public and press. 

Please ask for: 
Alison Marston 

 
9 March 2021 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Wednesday 17 March 2021 at 7.30 pm via Zoom. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the special meeting held on 23 
February 2021 (previously circulated). 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence, if any. 
 

3.   PETITIONS  
 

 The Mayor will receive petitions (limited to the first three petitions presented). 
 

4.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

 A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 

Public Document Pack



Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough. 
 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda. 
 

6.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service. 
 

7.   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 5 - 6) 
 

 For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough. 
 
The questions received for this meeting are attached.  A Member asking a 
question may ask, without giving notice, one supplementary question of the 
Member to whom the first question was asked.  The supplementary question 
must arise directly out of the reply. 
 

8.   MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET  
 

 To consider a recommendation from the meeting of the Cabinet on 9 March 
2021:- 
 

(a)    Corporate Plan 2021-2024 (Pages 7 - 20) 
 

9.   NOTICES OF MOTIONS (Pages 21 - 22) 
 

 To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 16 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct.  The motions received for this meeting are attached. 
 

10.   REVIEW OF OPERATION OF SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS AND ADOPTION 
OF LGA MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 23 - 64) 
 

 Report of the Monitoring Officer on the operation of new scrutiny arrangements 
and adoption of the Local Government Association (LGA) Model Code of 
Conduct. 
 

11.   URGENT MATTERS  
 

 To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 5.1(s). 
 
 



 
Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Corporate Management Team 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Alison 
Marston, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Item No: 7 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL MEETING – 17 MARCH 2021 
 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 15 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS  
 

Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 15:- 
 
1. Question to the Executive Member (Leisure, Culture and Communications) from 

Councillor Sunny Thusu 
 

“Bearing in mind how successful the opening of our terrific new Splashlands at 
Stanborough Park was last summer and the gradual easing of restrictions over the 
coming months, could the portfolio holder confirm that Splashlands will open in 
time for the Spring and Summer holiday period.” 

 
2. Question to the Leader from Councillor Glyn Hayes 
 

“The Government has recently launched a Disability Survey, to be used to form its 
National Strategy for Disabled People. The Survey has been widely criticised for 
being degrading, intrusive, inappropriate and insensitive throughout but I want to 
just touch on one question it contains. 
 

Question 58q in the Survey asks:  
Do you agree or disagree that you would be happy to have a relationship with 
a disabled person? 

 

Does the Leader agree with me that this question is degrading, intrusive, 
inappropriate and insensitive in today's society?” 

 
3. Question to the Leader from Councillor Frank Marsh 
 

“In my ward of Sherrards, Monks Rise, outside St John’s Church is in a very poor 
state of repair with massive potholes, clearly a public highway hazard, both to 
people and vehicles.  Through enquiries made it was established that Welwyn 
Borough Council own part of  this land, but I have been informed the Council feels 
it  is under no obligation to maintain its part of the  road in question, they will only 
do so if residents meet the cost, which they are  unwilling to do.  

  

Will you agree that in hindsight and despite their original decisions not to do 
anything, Monks Rise needs to be urgently repaired to eliminate all hazards and 
risk to residents and drivers, thus protecting this authority from any negligence 
claims?” 

 
4. Question to the Leader from Councillor Lucy Musk 
 

“Does the leader agree with me, that irrespective of the task and finish group 
findings, 8 weeks is simply too long for residents to be left without adequate repairs 
or support when reporting issues to the council?” 

 
5. Question to the Leader from Councillor Kieran Thorpe 
 

“Does the leader share my concern that despite interest from several local service 
providers, his Cabinet appear to be prepared to allow Friendship House to remain 
empty and unused, at a time of increased need in the community while it considers 
options around how to maximise revenue from an important community asset?” 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
For Decision 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 17 MARCH 2021 
 

Recommendation from the Cabinet on 9 March 2021:- 
 

236.1. Corporate Plan 2021-24 (Forward Plan Reference FP1033) 
 

Report of the Chief Executive on the Council’s proposed strategic priorities and 
commitments to the Borough’s communities for the period 2021-24. 
 
(1) The Decision Taken 
 

RESOLVED: 
(unanimous) 
 

(1) Cabinet agreed the Corporate Plan as outlined in Appendix A of the 
report for onward approval by Council for adoption. 

 

(2) Subject to Council’s approval, delegated authority is given to 
Corporate Management Team, in consultation with their respective 
Executive Member/s, to prepare an action plan and Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) for 2021/22. 

 

(3) Cabinet agreed the place narrative as outlined in Appendix B of the 
report and delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader, to make any necessary further 
adjustments as outlined in paragraph 3.8. 

 
(2) Reasons for the Decision 
 

The Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s priorities for the next three years, our 
commitments to our communities, and how we propose to fulfil them.   

 

These priorities have been shaped by the views of over 1,600 residents and 
businesses who told us what was important to them, what they liked about Welwyn 
Hatfield, and how they would like to see the Borough evolve.   

 

They also reflect conversations with over 40 stakeholders and partners at the 
Alliance Conference towards the end of last year. 
Those conversations have also fed into the Council’s “place narrative” – a longer-
term vision for the future of the Welwyn Hatfield which sets out how we would like 
to see the Borough develop over the next 20 or 30 years.  It is vital that this is a 
shared vision and, subject to the approval, the Chief Executive and the Leader will 
write to those stakeholders seeking further comments before the place narrative is 
finalised. 

 

The Leader thanked Members of the cross-party task and finish group for 
overseeing the development of the corporate priorities.  Also officers of the council 
who have carried out such successful engagement with our communities, and who 
will, subject to approval at full council, will finalise the full corporate plan for 2021 
to 2024. 

 

The Council has never before been able to say confidently that our priorities reflect 
those of the people who live, work and spend their leisure time here. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8a



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Thom Burn  
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET – 9 MARCH  2021 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES) 

CORPORATE PLAN – 2021 TO 2024 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report sets out our Corporate Plan, which sets out the proposed strategic 
priorities and commitments we will make to our communities for the period 2021-
24, and outlines the approach we will take to achieve them.  

1.2 The council has also worked with our partners to develop a place narrative for 
Welwyn Hatfield, which articulates what the borough will look and feel like over 
the longer term. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Cabinet agrees the Corporate Plan as outlined in Appendix A of this report 
for onward approval by Council for adoption. 

2.2 Subject to Council’s approval, delegated authority is given to Corporate 
Management Team, in consultation with their respective Executive Member/s, to 
prepare an action plan and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 2021/22. 

2.3 That Cabinet agrees the place narrative as outlined in Appendix B of this report 
and delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Leader, to make any necessary further adjustments as outlined in paragraph 3.8.  

3 Explanation 

Corporate Plan 

3.1 With the expiry of the 2018-21 Corporate Plan approaching, we began the 
process of creating a new strategic plan in November 2020, engaging with our 
communities and stakeholders to establish what was most important to them, 
what they valued about the area, and what they would like to change or preserve. 

3.2 We received 1,632 responses to an online survey which ran over four weeks, 
and held an engagement session with over 40 stakeholders and partners at the 
2020 WH Alliance Conference.  The results from the engagement were analysed 
and fed into a series of internal member and officer discussions and workshops 
with the aim of agreeing our priorities.   

3.3 The resulting proposals are based around five strategic priorities: 

 Attractive and accessible green spaces supporting the borough’s 
wellbeing  

 Evolving, vibrant town centres and a growing economy  

 Quality homes through managed growth 

 A sense of community where people feel safe  

 A well-run council which puts our customers first  

Page 9



- 2 - 

3.4 Following the adoption of these proposals, officers of the Extended Corporate 
Management Team will, with their respective Executive Member/s, prepare an 
action plan and KPIs for 2021/22, setting out what their services will aim to 
achieve over that financial year. 

Place Narrative 

3.5 In the most recent LGA Peer Review, it was recommended that the council 
should develop a clear “place narrative” for Welwyn Hatfield, linked to the long 
term vision which articulates what the borough will look and feel like over the 
longer term. 

3.6 The council hosted a workshop in October 2020 involving a wide range of 
stakeholders and community leaders to seek their views on the creation of a 
shared vision, looking ahead to 2040 and beyond.  The workshop was facilitated 
by Adam Lent, Chief Executive of New Local, which has extensive experience in 
this area of work. 

3.7 The views and feedback gained from the workshop, as well as the survey results 
mentioned in paragraph 3.2, were used to shape the place Narrative.  New Local 
were able to provide invaluable advice to the council in the development of the 
narrative, the final draft of which is shown in appendix B. 

3.8 Once Cabinet has agreed the draft place narrative, the Leader and Chief 
Executive will write to the stakeholders and community leaders of the borough 
seeking any further comments they may have, and asking for their support and 
commitment to promote the place narrative, recognising and adopting it as a 
shared vision.  

Implications 
 
4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.  Any that emerge 

will be picked up in the development of the more detailed action plan for 2021-22. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 None directly relating to this report. Any that emerge will be picked up in the 
development of the more detailed action plan for 2021-22. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 There are no specific risks relating to the strategy.  

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 None directly from this report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None directly from this report. 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 Although climate change is not specifically mentioned in this proposal, it does not 
mean it has ceased to be a priority.  In fact, the reverse is true.  Our climate 
emergency declaration means we will have to consider our impact on the 

Page 10



- 3 - 

environment in everything we do, and in the full version of the corporate plan we 
will set out how the protection of our environment is a theme cutting across all 
our services. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 None directly from this report. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 The proposals set out our intention to prioritise supporting the health and 
wellbeing of our communities. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 The proposals set out our intention to engage effectively with our communities in 
order that we can successfully build services around their needs. 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is to set our strategic and corporate priorities for 2021-
24. 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1  The proposals set out our intention to ensure our services and facilities are 
accessible to all.  An EqIA was completed in relation to this report and no 
negative impact was identified on any of the protected groups under Equalities 
legislation.   

 
 
 
Name of author Thom Burn 
Title Policy and Communications Manager 
Date 18 February 2021. 
 
 
 
Appendix A - Corporate Plan 2021-24 

Appendix B – Place Narrative 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Aim Our Commitments Our Approach

Attractive and 

accessible green 

spaces supporting 

the borough’s 

wellbeing

We will provide a variety of 

green spaces for all our 

communities to enjoy

Protect, enhance and invest in our parks and open spaces, 

woodlands, recreational areas, sports pitches, allotments, play 

areas and community gardens.

Improve access to green spaces, recognising the health benefits they 

bring to all our communities. 

Increase the ecological value of our green spaces and natural habitats 

for future generations, encouraging our communities to do the same.

We will involve our 

communities in the use of 

our green spaces

Continue to work with our partners and volunteers to bring local 

people together in our green spaces.

Promote the use of our green spaces ensuring all our communities 

understand the physical and mental wellbeing benefits they offer.

APPENDIX A:  Corporate Plan 2021-24

P
age 13



Strategic aim Our commitment Our approach 

Evolving, vibrant 

town centres and a 

growing economy

We will support businesses as 

they adapt for the future

Work with partners to understand and deliver the help needed 

to help businesses recover from and thrive after Covid.

Deliver and regenerate employment land through the Local 

Plan and planning permissions.

We will recognise the 

importance of town centres as 

the heart of our communities

Work with partners to ensure town centres continue to be 

safe, attractive and desirable places to visit.

Continue planning and delivering regeneration projects with 

our partners to upgrade public spaces and improve transport 

options.

P
age 14



Strategic aim Our commitment Our approach 

Quality homes 

through managed 

growth

We will deliver more affordable 

homes to meet local housing need

Deliver sites for new homes through the Local Plan and 

planning permissions

Secure land, funding and partnerships to deliver homes 

that people can afford

We will provide high quality 

housing, thriving neighbourhoods 

and sustainable communities

Invest in the quality of our social housing and regulate 

the quality of private homes

Help facilitate the delivery of infrastructure such as 

education, health and transport, supporting homes and 

communities

P
age 15



Strategic aim Our commitment Our approach

A sense of 

community where 

people feel safe

We will invest in strong, inclusive 

and supportive communities, 

based on trust and respect for 

everyone.

Encourage and enable local partnerships and joint working to 

achieve the shared goals of our communities.

Be inclusive, creative and innovative when engaging with our 

communities, and involve them in decisions about our 

services and service delivery

We will create welcoming 

neighbourhoods and community 

spaces where people feel safe

Design and maintain attractive neighbourhoods which our 

communities can enjoy and take pride in. 

Add to the vibrancy of our neighbourhoods and community 

spaces by promoting events and activities that celebrate 

diversity and promote community cohesion.

P
age 16



Strategic Aim Our Commitment Our Approach

A well-run council 
which puts our 
customers first

We will put our customers at the 
centre of what we do and how we 
design our services.

Continuously review our customer service channels, 
ensuring they are simple to use, accessible, reliable and 
consistent. 

Match our customer priorities with the resources we 
have available to deliver them and build services around 
them. 

We will deliver modern, efficient 
and transparent services for 
everyone.

Review our services to ensure we are efficient, 
accountable and accessible to our communities.

Ensure we are making the best use of our assets to 
deliver our services safely and efficiently.

We will continue to be an employer 
of choice, attracting and retaining 
the best talent to deliver our 
services.

Ensure our workforce is equipped with the right skills 
and values to deliver excellent public services 

Review our working methods and ensure our staff and 
services have the tools and resources they need to meet 
customer needs.

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: Place Narrative  

Welwyn Hatfield: where history keeps on being made… 

It’s where, in 1558, a young Elizabeth became a queen; where de Havilland and 

his fellow pioneers blazed a trail in the world of aviation; and where Ebenezer 

Howard – founding father of the global garden city movement – lived and died.  

It’s a past rich in inspiration, excellence, and innovation.  And for Welwyn 

Hatfield, there is so much more to come. 

People have always wanted to live here, and that’s not going to change – it’s 

something to celebrate, embracing the challenges that presents.  Our 

abundance of trees and green spaces belies our proximity to London, and we 

understand how important this sense of space and closeness to nature is to 

our communities.  Future generations will increasingly value the physical and 

mental health benefits of living, working and spending time in such a clean and 

attractive space.  We will make sure they can. 

Like everywhere, our town and village centres must adapt and evolve to new 

ways of working and shopping, of travel and leisure.  But we have every reason 

to be fearless as we take these opportunities – steeped in our learning from 

growing garden cities and vibrant new towns, we have a culture of planning for 

change in a way that protects and promotes all that is most treasured by our 

communities.  

Home to industry leaders in research, science and logistics, our potential for 

economic growth is phenomenal.  Our pioneering spirit runs deep.  As we 

create ever-stronger links between our forward-thinking businesses and world-

class centres of further education to forge exciting career pathways, we can 

attract, develop, and retain the very best in the world. 

We may never return to Howard’s ideal of a self-contained place where 

people can find everything they want or need, if only because the world has 

become so much smaller, and our outlook so much broader, since his time.  

But our talented, passionate people, and our diverse, engaged communities, 

can ensure we fully realise our huge potential as the heart of Hertfordshire, a 

perfect blend of town and country. 

Nobody can say what our world will look like in 20 or 30 years’ time, but one 

thing we can be sure of – Welwyn Hatfield will continue to produce the 

pioneers of the future, and be a place where history will keep on being made. 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No: 9 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 17 MARCH 2021 
 
NOTICE OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 16 
 
To consider the following notice of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 16:- 

 
1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Helen Quenet and 

will be seconded by Councillor Malcolm Cowan:- 

Our long-awaited Local Plan is now coming closer to adoption.  Whilst it does seek 
to address climate change and biodiversity, it was too far advanced in preparation 
to incorporate some of the actions and directions required by our Climate 
Emergency Declaration.   

It is therefore proposed that once the Local Plan is adopted, Council agrees that 
an immediate Local Plan review is conducted by planning and climate change 
officers to ensure that this vital aspect of the plan is consistent with and progresses 
our zero carbon and biodiversity aspirations and goals.   

The review will include the mitigation and adaption measures necessary to 
address the climate emergency, following good practice guidelines such as those 
outlined by the UK Green Building Council. 

2. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Malcolm Cowan 
and will be seconded by Councillor Siobhan Elam:- 

The growth of home delivery during the pandemic has accentuated the trend 
towards larger amounts of cardboard being disposed of. 

The frequent sight of overflowing ‘bring’ paper and cardboard skips, often 
accompanied by excess amounts being left around the skips, suggests the current 
arrangements need urgent revision, either by more skips, more frequent emptying, 
or other measures. Accordingly, this council asks officers to investigate and report 
back with recommendations as a matter of urgency.   

3. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Kieran Thorpe and 
will be seconded by Councillor Glyn Hayes:- 

This Council notes 

 The incredibly hard work undertaken by workers in the health and care 
sector during the Covid-19 Pandemic. 

 That the government has recently announced a recommendation that a 
payrise of 1% should be considered by the independent advisory panel. 

 That a below inflationary pay rise equates to a real terms pay cut.   

This Council resolves 

 To write to the Chancellor, and the MP for Welwyn Hatfield to state in the 
strongest terms this Councils view that even in the current economic 
situation, this is an appalling way to treat these workers after an 
unprecedented year, and that an urgent review of the current 
recommendation should take place as soon as possible. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Part I 
Main author: Alison Marston 
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury 
Not Ward Specific 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 17 MARCH 2021 
REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 

REVIEW OF OPERATION OF SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS AND ADOPTION OF LGA 
MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT 

 
1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report seeks to update Council on the operation of the new scrutiny 
arrangements agreed by Council on 6th May 2020. 

1.2 This report also seeks adoption of the Local Government Association (LGA) Model 
Code of Conduct for Members, with local amendments. 

1.3 Constitutional updates are part of an ongoing review and modernisation of the 
Council’s governance processes. 

1.4 In accordance with one of the recommendations in the corporate peer challenge 
action plan, as agreed by Council on 22 July 2019, the cross-party Constitution 
Review Group (CRG) was tasked to continue with the review of governance 
arrangements. This would facilitate the council’s ambition - particularly the 
member/officer scheme of delegation, to help deliver the vision, aims and speed 
up decision making. 

1.5 The peer review action was identified as a further step in supporting the Council to 
become more agile and modern. Work was needed to identify risk appetite and 
parameters that would be acceptable to members. Involving members in the 
development of appropriate processes, would give them the confidence that the 
right decisions would be made through delegation.   

1.6 In December 2020, arising from a key recommendation of the government’s 
Committee on Standards in Public Life, the Local Government Association (LGA) 
agreed a Model Code of Councillor Conduct with a recommendation for adoption 
by all local authorities. 

2 Recommendations 

2.1 That Council notes the content of this report. 

2.2 That Council agrees CRG’s recommendations of 14th December 2020 (Appendix 
A) and Standards Committee’s recommendations of 8th February 2021 (Appendix 
B) to adopt the LGA Model Code of Conduct for Members to include local 
amendments (Appendix C). 

2.3 That Council agrees CRG’s recommendations of 24th February 2021 (Appendix D) 
to continue with the scrutiny arrangements trialled since May 2020. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 10



 

 

2.4 That the Council authorises the Monitoring Officer to make any required 
consequential amendments to the Constitution. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 Scrutiny Arrangements- The cross-party Constitutional Review Group (CRG) 
was re-appointed at the 2019 Annual Council meeting to review the Constitution 
and make recommendations for change to update and streamline the Council’s 
governance arrangements to reflect the Council’s modernisation programme. The 
review of the Constitution is a continuing and ongoing responsibility. 

3.2 A comprehensive review of the council’s Constitution had already been started and 
on 25th March 2019, Council agreed CRG’s recommendations to approve 
substantial changes in the Council Procedure Rules, Rules of General Application 
to all Committees, Petition Scheme and Officer delegations. 

3.3 Following Council’s consideration of the peer review action plan on 22 July 2019 
and in response to this, key areas of the Constitution were reviewed by CRG. On 
key area was the operation of the council’s scrutiny arrangements. Detailed work 
was undertaken to review these arrangements and formulate recommendations to 
Council for consideration. 

3.4 Following consideration and agreement by Council on 6 May 2020 to trial new 
scrutiny arrangements, it was a specific action to report back to Council, through 
CRG, on how the new scrutiny arrangements had been operating. 

3.5 Council appointed a new Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 13 Members, 
politically proportionate, with the Chairman (Administration Member) and Vice-
Chairman (Opposition Member) appointed. This replaced the existing three 
scrutiny committees.  

3.6 The meeting cycle of the new OSC reflected the cycle of 5 scrutiny meetings in the 
municipal year, with the ability to mobilise time limited task and finish panels 
(T&FPs) as required. T&FPs would be set up by the OSC as and when required 
rather than as be established as standing bodies with a minimum of 5 Members, 
politically proportionate and an Opposition Chairman.  

3.7 The call-in procedures for scrutiny did not change and remain in place.  

3.8 As part of the operational arrangements, CRG were authorised to agree the 
operational arrangements for the OSC.  

3.9 CRG met on 27th May 2020 to consider and agree the relevant documentation 
including the new rules and protocol for OSC. Training for members and officers 
on the new arrangements was arranged and took place on 29thJune, 6th and 13th 
July 2020. All members and officer were issued with the new rules and guidance 
on the new arrangements. 

3.10 Various pre-meetings took place with the Chairman of the OSC. The first meeting 
of the new OSC took place on 28th July 2020. Further training took place for 
members of the OSC on 6th October 2020. 

Page 24



 

 

3.11 As part of the new arrangements, it was also agreed that information historically 
contained in reports “for noting” would not go to OSC, to free up more time and 
focus for strategic OSC meetings.   

3.12 However, it was considered important by CRG that Members retained oversight of 
operational activities of the council services and it was suggested that such 
information could be made available to them in a different way. Since May 2020, 
a “Members’ Information Hub” on Microsoft Teams, has been developed and 
gradually populated with historical and new data. This is now accessible by all 
members and training on this process was delivered to members on 18 November 
2020. The feedback has been positive. 

3.13 Work programme of the OSC- The new Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
met five times to date: 28 July 2020, 2 September 2020, 11 November 2020, 13 
January 2021 and 3 March 2021. As well as agreeing the new processes for 
scoring and scoping scrutiny items, business considered by the new OSC has 
included: 

 Reporting back from the Anti-Social Behaviour Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
that was set up prior to the new arrangements and making 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

 Setting up and receiving updates from the first Task and Finish Panel under 
the new arrangements; the panel considering Budget Setting and the 
Corporate Plan. Recommendations regarding the budget were taken back 
to OSC in January 2021 for recommending to Special Cabinet; 
recommendations regarding the Corporate Plan were taken to OSC on 3 
March 2021 for recommending to Cabinet on 9 March 2021. 

 Housing Maintenance and Repairs: following a Motion to Full Council in 
January 2020 this topic was considered by the OSC and the committee 
used the new Scrutiny Scoring Matrix to ascertain the appropriate way 
forward. A report was requested for the following meeting and subsequently 
a Task and Finish Panel has been set up to look in more detail at this. 

 A statutory annual report on the provision of health services in the borough 
was presented to the OSC in January 2021. 

 A statutory annual report on the provision of the discharge of crime and 
disorder services in borough was presented to the OSC in March 2021 

Feedback received from one of the Vice-Chairs of the new OSC reflects that, 
considering the new arrangements came into place during the pandemic, things 
have gone well. However, some further training for members around scrutiny may 
be helpful; especially around how to identify issues for scrutiny. As the relevant 
guidance on scrutiny arrangements suggest it is for the committee to set its own 
work programme, the Members’ Information Hub will continue to be populated with 
all relevant executive information, including the Forward Plan.  

3.14 Work programme of T&F Panels and outcomes- Two Task and Finish Panels 
have been set up under the new arrangements as mentioned above: 

 Budget Setting and Corporate Plan: this panel met seven times between 
September 2020 and February 2021; a longer period than we would expect 
most task and finish panels to operate for but the frequency and timing of 
the meetings was planned to coincide with the budget setting process. 

Page 25



 

 

Feedback from the Chair of the Panel has been positive: reporting more 
engagement with the Cabinet Member and greater opportunity to suggest 
different ways of working and to challenge better. 

 Housing Maintenance and Repairs: the scoping for the work of this panel 
took place on 18 January 2021, with meetings commencing in February. 
This panel reported back to OSC with some initial findings on 3 March and 
is due to complete its scrutiny work by the end of April. A report will be 
brought back to OSC in the new municipal year.  

3.15 Call-In- there has been one ‘call-in’ under the new OSC protocol. The process 
appears to have worked well. 

3.16 Executive Member Decision Notices (EMDN)- although there was no express 
requirement to trial the operation of the introduction of EMDN, this was a key action 
of the peer review to enable the council to work in a more agile and modern way. 
The use of EMDN has facilitated this objective and it is generally agreed that this 
has been without loss of member oversight and scrutiny. From June 2020 to 
February 2021, twenty-four Executive Member Decision Notices have been 
published on the council’s website. These have been reported to Cabinet meetings 
within the Actions Status Report. Following publication, decisions are emailed to 
all Councillors and relevant call-in periods highlighted. To date, no decisions made 
in this way have been called in.  

3.17 Member Information Hub – There are two information hubs for Members hosted 
on Microsoft Teams. The first one to go live was the “Councillor Corporate 
Information Hub” which was launched in August 2020. This hub was intended for 
use for sharing cross-service information including risk reporting and performance 
data; as well as for member training resources and other guidance documents. 
Until the second hub went live it was also used to share service-specific 
information. The second hub, the Councillor Service Information Hub, was 
launched in January and is split into ten channels; one for each of the council’s 
service areas and an additional “general” channel. A summary document for each 
service area including key contact information is pinned to each relevant channel. 
Engagement with the information hubs is increasing as members become more 
familiar with the platform and how to engage with it. Presently documents uploaded 
to the hub receive between five and 30 viewers; with Covid-related information 
being the most widely engaged with. 

3.18 CRG made the following observations on the Information Hub: 

 Much had been achieved over the last municipal year in modernising the 
scrutiny function and developing digital and remote resources 

 Some training had been delivered for using MS Teams, but as more 
functionalities were introduced, updated training (for both Members and 
Officers) was required.  

 The Information Hubs were welcomed, but it was accepted that this was still 
‘work in progress’ and further liaison should take place with Heads of 
Service, to ensure Service Teams were proactively uploading the right 
information for Members to review. 

Page 26



 

 

 As more information is uploaded on a regular basis, a summary notification 
(potentially weekly) informing Members of what information has been made 
available would be useful 

3.19 LGA Model Councillors Code of Conduct- This document was considered by 
CRG on 14th December 2020 and Standards Committee on 8th February 2021. 
After due consideration, members recommended the adoption of the new Model 
Code by the council, together with local amendments relating to the retention of 
the ‘One Team ethos’ and adherence to council Social Media Protocols. 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) requires a local 
authority to prepare and keep up to date a Constitution.  

4.2 There is also Government Guidance ‘DETR New Council Constitutions Local 
Government Act 2000 Guidance to English Local Authorities’ 

4.3 A Constitution Direction was issued by the Secretary of State, ‘DETR Local 
Government Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) Direction 2000’, requiring around 
80 matters to be included within council Constitutions. These are prescribed 
matters that must be included in a local authority’s Constitution. 

4.4 These documents should be read in the context of superseding legislation 
including the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and 
Localism Act 2011. 

4.5 Sections 27 and 28 of the Localism Act 2011 requires a local authority to secure 
a councillor code of conduct that is consistent with the Nolan principles and may 
revise its code as it considers appropriate. 

4.6 A relevant authority must publicise its adoption, revision or replacement of a code 
of conduct in such manner as it considers is likely to bring the adoption, revision 
or replacement of the code of conduct to the attention of persons who live in its 
area.  

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 No direct financial implications associated with this report. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.1.1 Risk: Reputational - proposed changes may not meet everyone’s requirements 
resulting in possible adverse publicity  
Assessment: Low 
Mitigating Actions: Consider if consultation at appropriate stages may assist. No 
adverse publicity has been received on the previous changes. 

6.1.2 Risk: Reputational - Council fails to take the opportunity to modernise the 
Constitution.   
Assessment: Low  
Mitigating Actions: Officers to continue work to with CRG and Group Leaders to 
help devise and adopt a modern Constitution. Much headway has been made into 

Page 27



 

 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 Members are obliged to consider security and terrorism implications when making 
decisions and any proposed changes to committee structures and reporting 
processes need to ensure such considerations can continue to be made. There 
are no implications under this section for the proposals in this report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no implications under this section for the proposals in this report. 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no implications under this section for the proposals in this report. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There is a substantial call on Officer(s) time to service committees and panels 
including time to draft and produce any major re-writes to the procedures within 
the Constitution.  

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 There are no specific identified health and wellbeing implications directly arising 
from the content of this report. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 The Constitution is a public document and will be updated accordingly on the 
website to make it available and assist with the transparency of governance.  

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 A modernised and updated Constitution will support the Council’s corporate 
priorities corporate and the peer challenge action plan. 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 I confirm that an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in 
connection with the proposals that are set out in this report as it is not currently 
required.  

 
Name of author Alison Marston 01707 357413 
Title Governance Services Manager 
Date 5 March 2020 
 

  

Appendices: 
 

Appendix A – Minutes from Constitution Review Group 14 December 2020 
Appendix B – Minutes from Standards Committee 8 February 2021 
Appendix C – LGA Model Councillor Code of Conduct with local amendments 
Appendix D – Minutes from Constitution Review Group 24 February 2021 

Page 28



-1- 
 
Constitution Review Group 
14 December 2020 
 

 
 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the CONSTITUTION REVIEW GROUP held on Monday 14 
December 2020 at 5.00 pm via MS Teams 

 
PRESENT: Councillors T.Kingsbury (Chairman) 

F.Thomson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

  M.Cowan, G.Hayes, F.Marsh, K.Thorpe and S.Wrenn 
 

 
OFFICIALS 
PRESENT: 

N.Long, Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance) 
M Martinus, Head of Law and Administration 
R.Baker, Head of Resources 
H.O'Keeffe, Service Manager (Financial Services) 
A.Marston, Governance Services Manager 
J.Anthony, Principal Governance Officer 
 

 
 
59. MINUTES 

 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 26 October 2020 were approved as a correct 
record and noted by the Chairman. 
 

60. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
The Group received details of proposed changes to the Financial Regulations 
aspects of the constitution.  Officers explained that this area of the constitution 
was due to be reviewed and this had coincided with recent changes made to the 
CIPFA Financial Management Code.  It was noted that the language had been 
changed to refer to ‘regulations’ in line with industry practice, and that parts of 
the current text had been removed to avoid duplication and stream line the 
document further. There was also a move away from providing detailed 
instructions, and instead a focus on identifying the correct controls that were 
required to be put in place. 
 
AGREED:  
 

- The Constitution Review Group recommend to Council on 1 February 
2021 to approve the proposed changes, subject to the correct references 
being agreed and included (highlighted yellow in the current draft 
document). 

 
 
 
 

Page 29



-2- 
 
Constitution Review Group 
14 December 2020 
 

 
 

61. LGA MODEL CODE OF MEMBER CONDUCT 
 
The Group was presented with the Local Government Association’s newly 
agreed Model Councillor Code of Conduct. Officers explained that this was an 
attempt to introduce a level of consistency across local authorities. Officers also 
informed the Group that a recent meeting of Hertfordshire Heads of Legal, some 
councils had indicated a willingness to adopt the Model Code, with other were 
still considering the issue. 
 
The Group made the following observations: 
 

- Much of the substance contained in the Model Code was also covered in 
the council’s current Code of Conduct 

- One main difference between the Codes was the language used. The 
Model Code was written in the first person and encouraged much more 
ownership by individual councillors 

- Whilst the council’s current Code of Conduct did refer to the need for 
councillors to be treated with respect, the Model Code contained a more 
detailed section. Going forward, how this might be enforced was an area 
that was being worked on 

- A substantial change was contained in section 8 of the Model Code which 
provides a requirement for Members to cooperate with investigations 
carried out under the Code. 

- The Model Code does allow additional elements to be added to it, and this 
would provide an opportunity for the council to incorporate the One Team 
ethos currently referred to in the council’s current Code of Conduct 

- Should the Model Code be adopted, Officers will arrange appropriate 
Member training and briefing, and the Model Code would be publicised on 
the council’s website. It will also be referred in the Declaration of Interest 
forms Members are required to sign 

 
AGREED: 
 

- The Constitution Review Group recommend to the Standards Committee 
on 8 February 2021 to positively consider the council adopting the LGA’s 
Model Code of Conduct and to make appropriate recommendation to the 
Council on 17 March 2021 

 
62. DATES OF MEETINGS 

 
AGREED:  
 
The Constitution Review Group would meet in February to consider a report 
reviewing the new scrutiny arrangements implemented in 2020, and any other 
business identified.  This would be with a view to providing recommendations, as 
appropriate, to the Council on 17 March 2021. 
 

 
Meeting ended at 5.24 pm 

Page 30



-3- 
 
Constitution Review Group 
14 December 2020 
 

 
 

JA 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No:  
For Decision 

 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 17 MARCH 2021  
 
Recommendation from the Standards Committee on 8 February 2021:- 
 
34. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION MODEL CODE OF COUNCILLOR 

CONDUCT 
 

Members received a report of the Monitoring Officer detailing the Local 
Government Association’s new Model Code of Conduct.  
 
The following key points were noted: 

 
- The Model Code was a voluntary code, with no legal requirement on the 

council to adopt it 
- much of the substance contained in the Model Code is also covered in 

the council’s current Code of Conduct, which was adopted on 6 May 
2020 

- a main different between the codes is the language used, with the 
Model Code written in the first person 

- a substantive addition is section 8 of the Model Code which provides a 
requirement for Members to cooperate with investigations carried out 
under Code. This is not provided for in the current Code. 

- given that adoption would require changes to the council’s constitution, 
the Model Code was reviewed by the Constitution Review Group at their 
meeting on 14 December 2020, who supported its adoption 

- The Model Code could be tailored for individual councils, and therefore 
could include the council’s One Team ethos and social media protocol 

- feedback from other Hertfordshire councils indicated that at least half 
were not planning to adopt the new code this year 

 
Members discussed the merit in adopting the Model Code at this time given 
other competing priorities. However, the addition of a requirement for Members 
to cooperate with investigations and the strong message to the public that 
Members were aspiring to best practice were seen as worthwhile benefits. 
 
RESOLVED:  

Members unanimously agreed to recommend to the Full Council on 17 March 
2021 to adopt the Model Code, adapted to include the One Team ethos and 
social media protocol.  

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Local Government Association   

Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020   

Joint statement  

The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our 

country’s system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held 

accountable and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the 

role. Our conduct as an individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. 

We want the role of councillor to be one that people aspire to. We also want 

individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be putting themselves 

forward to become councillors.   

As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and 

deliver local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to 

represent our local area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have 

both an individual and collective responsibility to meet these expectations by 

maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging 

behaviour which falls below expectations.   

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being 

intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public.   

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good 

conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government.  

As councillors, we will also, in so far as is practicable, act in accordance with the 

values and behaviours of the Council, as part of the #ONETEAM approach.  These 

are also attached to this Code.  

  

Page 35



Introduction  

The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code 

of Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the 

sector, as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to 

aspire to high standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils 

to adopt in whole and/or with local amendments.  

All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct.   

The LGA will undertake an annual review of this Code to ensure it continues to be fit 

for-purpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in 

legislation. The LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to councils and 

councillors on the application of the Code and the National Association of Local 

Councils (NALC) and the county associations of local councils can offer advice and 

support to town and parish councils.   

Definitions   

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-

opted member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” 

is defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member 

of the authority but who  

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;  

b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or 

joint sub-committee of the authority;  

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of 

that committee or sub-committee”.  

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, 

district councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and 

rescue authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, 

combined authorities and National Park authorities.   

Purpose of the Code of Conduct  

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling 

the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and 

to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is 

also to protect you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the 

reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of 

all councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The 

LGA encourages the use of support, training and mediation prior to action being 

taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain 

public confidence in the role of councillor and local government.   

  

Page 36



General principles of councillor conduct  

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 

services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; 

should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 

Principles.  

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 

specifically for the role of councillor.  

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:  

• I act with integrity and honesty  

• I act lawfully  

• I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and  

• I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role 

of councillor.  

In undertaking my role:  

• I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community  

• I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person  

• I avoid conflicts of interest  

• I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and  

• I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 

authority’s requirements and in the public interest.  

Application of the Code of Conduct  

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 

acceptance of the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 

member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a councillor.   

This Code of Conduct applies to you when:  

• you are acting in your capacity as a councillor and/or as a representative of 

your council  

• you are claiming to act as a councillor and/or as a representative of your 

council  

• you are giving the impression that you are acting as a councillor and/or as a 

representative of your council  

• you refer publicly to your role as a councillor or use knowledge you could only 

obtain in your role as a councillor.  

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:  

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


• at face-to-face meetings  

• at online or telephone meetings  

• in written communication  

• in verbal communication  

• in non-verbal communication  

• in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments.   

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at 

all times.  

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the  

Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring 

Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish 

councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to 

the Monitoring Officer.   

  

  

Page 38



Standards of councillor conduct  

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 

required of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 

complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken.   

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they 

should be followed.     

General Conduct   

1. Respect  

As a councillor:  

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.  

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives 

of partner organisations and those volunteering for the local 

authority with respect and respect the role they play.  

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written 

word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a 

councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, 

opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject 

individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack.  

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 

and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 

councillors.  

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members 

of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop 

any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local 

authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow 

councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, 

and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 

authority’s councillor-officer protocol.  

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination   

As a councillor:  

2.1 I do not bully any person.  

2.2 I do not harass any person.   

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against 

any person.    

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 

offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 

Page 39



might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on 

social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social 

events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others.   

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 

causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such 

conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose 

unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be 

expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person.  

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's identity 

defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 

and sexual orientation.    

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a 

central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's 

performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public 

commitment to equality across public services.  

3. Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a councillor:  

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality 

of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.   

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 

they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a 

way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to 

understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the 

content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them 

to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so 

would prejudice their professional integrity.   

4. Confidentiality and access to information  

As a councillor:  

4.1 I do not disclose information:  

a. given to me in confidence by anyone  

b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be 

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless   

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to 

give it;  

ii. I am required by law to do so;  

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the 

purpose of obtaining professional legal advice 

Page 40



provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 

the information to any other person; or  

iv. the disclosure is:  

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and  

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the local authority; 

and   

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to 

its release.  

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my 

role as a councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my 

family members, my employer or my business interests.  

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are 

entitled to by law.   

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 

printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 

circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 

required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 

by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include 

personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations.  

5. Disrepute  

As a councillor:  

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.   

As a councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 

your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 

members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an 

adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may lower 

the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s 

functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can 

bring your local authority into disrepute.  

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able 

to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 

undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of 

Conduct.  

6. Use of position  

As a councillor:  

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 

advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else.   

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 

Page 41



will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to 

further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.    

7. Use of local authority resources and 

facilities  

As a councillor:  

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.  

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their 

use by others:  

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; 

and   

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political 

purposes unless that use could reasonably be regarded as 

likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the 

functions of the local authority or of the office to which I 

have been elected or appointed.  

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 

in carrying out your duties as a councillor.  

Examples include:  

• office support  

• stationery  

• equipment such as phones, and computers  

• transport  

• access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.  

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively 

and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 

accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 

authority’s own policies regarding their use.  

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct  

As a councillor:   

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local 

authority.  

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 

determination.   

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is 

likely to be involved with the administration of any investigation 

or proceedings.  

Page 42



8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that 

I have breached the Code of Conduct.  

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for 

you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in 

the local authority or its governance.  If you do not understand or are concerned 

about the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this 

with your Monitoring Officer.  

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority   

9. Interests  

As a councillor:  

9.1 I register and declare my interests.   

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 

fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. 

The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue 

arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and 

a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding 

whether or not you should declare an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for 

you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also 

important that the public know about any interest that might have to be declared by 

you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 

making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public 

confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.   

You should note that failure to register or declare a disclosable pecuniary (i.e. 

financial) interest is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.   

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and declaring interests. If 

in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.   

10. Gifts and hospitality  

As a councillor:  

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 

which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 

reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 

persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local 

authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for 

any permission, licence or other significant advantage.  

10.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt.   

10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or 

hospitality that I have been offered but have refused to accept.   

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 

Page 43



reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The 

presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 

there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 

which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, 

you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as 

a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important 

to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated 

with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer 

for guidance.  

11. SOCIAL MEDIA PROTOCOLS  

11.1  You must have due regard to any council social media protocols that 

apply and are relevant to you.  

  

Page 44



Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life  

The principles are:  

Selflessness  

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  

Integrity  

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 

people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 

They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 

benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 

any interests and relationships.  

Objectivity  

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 

using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.  

Accountability  

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 

and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  

Openness  

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 

manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 

and lawful reasons for so doing.  

Honesty  

Holders of public office should be truthful.  

Leadership  

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 

challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 45



Appendix B  

Registering interests  

1. Within 28 days of this Code of Conduct being adopted by the local authority or 

your election or appointment to office (where that is later) you must register 

with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out 

in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) and Table 2 (Other Registerable 

Interests). Disclosable Pecuniary Interests means issues relating to money 

and finances.  

2. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 

28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a 

registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.  

3. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

councillor/member or co-opted member, or a person connected with the 

member or co-opted member, being subject to violence or intimidation.  

4. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 

Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.   

Declaring interests  

5. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, you must declare the interest, not participate 

in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you 

do not have to declare the nature of the interest, just that you have an 

interest.  

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 

Registerable Interests, you must declare the interest. You may speak on the 

matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting 

but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 

must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If 

it is a ‘sensitive interest’, again you do not have to declare the nature of the 

interest.  

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 

interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or a 

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must 

declare the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the 

public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take 

part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you 

do not have to declare the nature of the interest.  

Page 46



8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –  

a. your own financial interest or well-being;  

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or  

c. a body included in those you need to declare under Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests, you must disclose the interest.  

9. Where the matter affects the financial interest or well-being:  

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority 

of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;   

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe 

that it would affect your view of the wider public interest  

you must declare the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members 

of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 

take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 

room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

interest’, you do not have to declare the nature of the interest.  

  

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in 

the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  

Subject  Description  

Employment, office, 

trade, profession or 

vocation  

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 

for profit or gain.  

[Any unpaid directorship.]  

Sponsorship  Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 

than from the council) made to the councillor during the previous 

12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out 

his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election 

expenses.  

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 

within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 

(Consolidation) Act 1992.  

Contracts  Any contract made between the councillor or his/her spouse or 

civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if 

they were spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which such person 

is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such person is a 

director* or a body that such person has a beneficial interest in 

the securities of*) and the council —  

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 

Page 47

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


works are to be executed; and which has not been fully 

discharged. 

Land and Property  Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 

council.  

‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or 

over land which does not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 

civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if 

they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly with another) a 

right to occupy or to receive income.  

Licences  Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 

area of the council for a month or longer  

Corporate tenancies  Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s  

knowledge)—  

(a) the landlord is the council; and (b) the tenant is a body that 

the councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 

whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil 

partners is a partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial 

interest in the securities* of.  

Securities  Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where—  

(a) that body (to the councillor’s knowledge) has a place of 

business or land in the area of the council; and  

(b) either—  

(i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds £25,000 

or one hundredth of the total issued share  

capital of that body; or  

if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 

total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 

councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil partner or the person with 

whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil 

partners has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the 

total issued share capital of that class.  

  

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial 

and provident society.   

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, 

units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services 

and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 

deposited with a building society.  

  

Page 48



Table 2: Other Registerable Interests  

Any Body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the council;  

Any Body -   (a) exercising functions of a public nature;  

  (b) directed to charitable purposes; or  

  (c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)  

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 49



Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life  

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider 

the recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their 

report on Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to 

implement any of the recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.   

The recommendations cover:  

 Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when 

the Code of Conduct applies  

 The introduction of sanctions  

 An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman  

 Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012  

 Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code  

 Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person  

 That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests should be abolished  

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice 

recommendations. These are:  

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and 

harassment in codes of conduct. These should include a definition 

of bullying and harassment, supplemented with a list of examples 

of the sort of behaviour covered by such a definition.   

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct 

requiring councillors to comply with any formal standards 

investigation and prohibiting trivial or malicious allegations by 

councillors.   

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year 

and regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, 

community organisations and neighbouring authorities.   

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors 

and the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and 

available in council premises.   

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at 

least once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such 

as CSV.   

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report


Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest 

test against which allegations are filtered.   

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent 

Persons.   

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to 

undertake a formal investigation on an allegation, and should be 

given the option to review and comment on allegations which the 

responsible officer is minded to dismiss as being without merit, 

vexatious, or trivial.  

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of 

misconduct following a formal investigation, a decision notice 

should be published as soon as possible on its website, including a 

brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code engaged by the 

allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of 

the decision-maker, and any sanction applied.   

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible 

guidance on its website on how to make a complaint under the 

code of conduct, the process for handling complaints, and 

estimated timescales for investigations and outcomes.   

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish 

councillor towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the 

parish council as a whole, rather than the clerk in all but 

exceptional circumstances. 

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support 

and management of investigations and adjudications on alleged 

breaches to parish councils within the remit of the principal 

authority. They should be provided with adequate training, 

corporate support and resources to undertake this work.   

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any 

conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. 

Possible steps should include asking the Monitoring Officer from a 

different authority to undertake the investigation.   

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or 

which they own as part of their annual governance statement and 

give a full picture of their relationship with those bodies. Separate 

bodies created by local authorities should abide by the Nolan 

principle of openness and publish their board agendas and 

minutes and annual reports in an accessible place.   

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or 

group whips to discuss standards issues.  

Page 51



The LGA has committed to reviewing the Code on an annual basis to ensure it is still 

fit for purpose.   

Page 52



Appendix D 

  

P
age 53



Appendix E 

Social Media Protocol  

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Council wishes to encourage members’ use of technology and also 

provide appropriate guidance for members wishing to use social media in their 

capacity as elected members. ‘Social media’ means the online tools, 

messaging services, websites and interactive media that enable users to 

interact with each other by sharing information, opinions, knowledge and 

interests.  

 1.2 The purpose of this protocol is to support members’ use of social media 

through the provision of guidance and clarity as to what constitutes 

acceptable usage to ensure compliance with the Council’s legal obligations 

and the general standards of conduct expected of members.  This protocol 

should therefore be read in conjunction with the Code of Conduct for 

Members.  This is found at   https://www.welhat.gov.uk/councillors/code-of-

conduct/general-conduct 

1.3 The use of social media poses some risks to the Council's reputation which 

need to be managed and this protocol aims to ensure that councillors, and 

through them the Council, are not exposed to legal risks as a result of social 

media use and that the reputation of councillors, and through them the 

Council, is not harmed. 

2. Application of the Code of Conduct for Members 

2.1 This protocol will apply to councillors using social media who are acting in 

their capacity as a councillor, and in circumstances where a councillor is 

purporting or perceived to be acting as such. Councillors are bound by the 

Code of Conduct set out in Section 5a of the Constitution. Of particular 

emphasis, this includes (but is not limited to) the following:  

a) Treating others with respect.  It is implicit from this that members 

should not seek to bully, harass or defame anyone via social media 

b) Complying with equality laws  

c) Promoting and supporting high standards of conduct 

d) Not bringing the council into disrepute  

e) Not disclosing confidential information 

2.2 The judgment of whether a member is perceived to be acting as a councillor 

will be made by the Monitoring Officer where required. Councillors should 

assume that any online activity may be linked to their official role. 

 

Page 54



2.3 For the avoidance of doubt, members should consider keeping their personal 

and political accounts separate or where this is inconvenient use clear 

expressions of intent (in the content or profile of the account) such as 

‘speaking entirely personally’ or ‘the views expressed here are my personal 

opinion’ 

3. Operation of this protocol by Members 

3.1 Examples of good practice.  Members should: 

a) Undertake any relevant training provided to be competent in the use of 

social media and specific platforms used (e.g. Facebook, Twitter, 

LinkedIn, Instagram, YouTube) 

b) Use secure passwords. 

c) Make use of robust privacy settings particularly if the content of the site 

is not meant to be accessed by the press or wider public.  

d) Never divulge password information to prevent ‘hacking’ and  

e) Consider using ‘multi-factor authentication which relies on the use of 

more than one secure device to access an account 

f) Read the terms of service of any social media site accessed to 

understand confidentiality/privacy settings. 

g) Pay attention to privacy settings which can (if not activated) divulge the 

physical location of a member. 

h) Be transparent as to their identity when using social media. 

i) Use social media sparingly and discreetly at meetings, considering the 

impression this presents to others. 

j) Treat others with respect and not use social media to attack, insult, 

abuse, defame or otherwise make, offensive or discriminatory 

comments about residents, council staff and services, other councillors 

and/or organisations. 

k) Set the tone for their online conversations by being polite, accurate and 

transparent. 

l) Consider carefully any posts or images that they wish to place on line 

giving themselves the opportunity to cross check and alter the content 

before the ‘send’ button is pressed.  Hasty and rash posts can be ill 

advised and may have potentially damaging consequences. 

m) Not leave on their web or social media pages comments made by 

others which may be equally damaging/defamatory. 

n) Acknowledge and correct any mistakes and not simply delete them. 

They should not alter previous posts without indicating that there has 

been a change. 

Page 55



o) Safeguard and promote the welfare of vulnerable adults, children and 

young people in their online interactions. 

p) Be aware that social media content may be subject to Freedom of 

Information requests made to public bodies. 

q) Promote equality, not discriminate unlawfully against any person, and 

treat people with respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, 

gender, sexual orientation or disability. 

r) Be mindful of people who are attempting to goad members into making 

a comment. An even-handed, reasonable and proportionate response 

is always preferable to conflict.  

s) Be cautious in requesting or accepting a Council employee or 

contractor providing services to the Council as a “friend” on a social 

networking site where this suggests close personal association. 

t) Take care when ‘liking’ or ‘sharing’ the views or comments of others as 

this could be perceived as an endorsement of the content regardless of 

the member’s intention.    

3.2 Examples of poor practice.  Members must not: 

a) Share their password with anyone.  If members are using shared IT 

equipment, they should not store their password on the device. 

b) Bully or harass anyone and not say anything, particularly if it is part of a 

series of similar comments about a person or on a theme that might be 

construed as bullying or intimidation. 

c) Pursue a campaign repeatedly against a person that is likely to cause 

alarm, harassment or distress. 

d) Do anything to jeopardise the council’s obligations under the Freedom 

of Information and Data Protection Acts, and should not publish the 

personal data of individuals unless they have been given their express 

permission. 

e) Publish an untrue statement about a person which is damaging to their 

reputation as they may pursue a libel action against the member. A 

successful libel claim could result in the award of damages against 

members. No indemnity from the Council will be available.   

f) Use images or text from a copyrighted source (for example extracts 

from publications or photos), without obtaining permission, as this has 

the potential to breach copyright laws. 

g) Post malicious or obscene communications. 

h) Bring the council into disrepute by publishing anything that could 

reasonably be perceived as reflecting badly upon or lowering the 

reputation of themselves or the Council. 

Page 56



i) Disclose information given to them in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by a member who s/he believes, or ought 

reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature. Members should 

not write or report on conversations, meetings or matters that are 

meant to be confidential or internal to the council such as those held in 

exempt session or prior to the publication of reports. 

j) Engage the council's social media accounts in political conversations, 

as these accounts are managed by council officers for the benefit of 

residents and to inform them of services and news. Officers are not 

able to answer politically motivated questions. 

4. Planning, Licensing or other quasi-judicial decision making 

4.1 Members should not say anything on social media – including via emails and 

texts – which suggests that they have made their mind up on an issue that is 

due to be formally decided. While a member’s view on a particular issue may 

be well known, they need to be able to demonstrate that they:  

a) have attended appropriate meetings  

b) were prepared to weigh all the evidence  

c) were genuinely persuadable to a different view 

Members should be mindful of these points in their social media exchanges to 

guard against the possibility that their decision (and that of the relevant 

committee) may be later challenged as invalid on grounds of predetermination 

or bias. If a person has suffered detriment as a result of such an invalid 

decision, this may subsequently result in a claim against the Council for 

damages.  Such a claim may refer to postings made by members on social 

media. 

5. The Election Period 

5.1 Members who use social media for campaign purposes in the run up local 

elections (the ‘regulated period’) need to acquaint themselves with the rules 

relating to the declaration and reporting of expenditure relating to social media 

use (e.g. advertising via websites, YouTube videos).  The Electoral 

Commission provides guidance for candidates and agents on such matters. 

5.2 Members should also comply with any guidance issued by the Council to all 

candidates, agents and campaigners regarding the use of social media at 

elections (e.g. Polling stations, postal vote opening sessions) and other 

advice regarding how social media should be used to comply with relevant 

statutory provisions (e.g. Representation of the People Act 1983) 

6.  Non-compliance with this protocol  

Page 57



6.1 Complaints received by the Monitoring Officer about Members’ non 

compliance with this protocol shall be considered in accordance with the Code 

of Conduct for Members. Non-compliance with this Code may result in a 

breach of the Code. 

6.2 Anyone receiving threats, abuse or harassment via their use of social media 

should report it to the police.  

6.3 Other inappropriate content can be reported to the social media site where 

members should ask for it to be removed. 

7. ‘One Team’ behaviours 

7.1 Welwyn Hatfield Council is committed to a culture of ‘One Team’ i.e.  

‘Working together to keep Welwyn Hatfield a great place to live, work and 

study in a vibrant and growing economy’ (Business Plan). 

7.2 Officers (with their technical expertise) and members (with their unique and 

dynamic links to the community) are critical to the success of ‘One Team’ 

aims and objectives. 

7.3 When using social media, members should wherever possible reflect on – and 

be guided by the key behaviours associated with the achievement of ‘One 

Team’ success.  These ‘behaviours’ are published in the Council’s business 

plan and many of these behaviours are also found in the ‘Nolan Principles’ 

(listed in the members Conduct of Conduct).  When applied to members’ use 

of social media these include: 

a) Honesty e.g. being truthful in social media postings and exchanges.  

This includes the avoidance of initiating or promoting disinformation 

(‘fake news’) or concealing one’s identity whilst using social media.  

Members are reminded that they should ‘not place themselves in 

situations where their honesty may be questioned, not behave 

improperly and….avoid the appearance of such behaviour’ (Nolan 

Principles). 

b) Openness e.g. being open about actions and decisions (and that of the 

Council) and being prepared to give reasons where required – albeit in 

a concise format (e.g. micro blog/ twitter). 

c) Transparent e.g. about decisions and decision-making when 

commenting on such matters within the bounds of expected (and 

legally required) levels of confidentiality. 

d) Respect for the skills, knowledge and abilities of officers – even where 

members disagree with a specific officer recommendation – particularly 

when commenting on controversial issues.  Whilst members may well 

be candid and direct with their opinions and views, they should avoid 

Page 58



the use of inappropriate language and attributing blame to individual 

officers who are not in a position to respond. 

e) Preparedness e.g. taking time to ensure that opinions expressed and 

information provided on social media is accurate - and demonstrate 

humility when evidence contradicts previously held views (personally 

or in the community). 

f) Focus on the positive opportunities afforded by using social media to 

provide a dynamic link to the views and concerns of the local 

community and in so doing: 

g) ‘Walk towards problems’ and challenges to  

h) Focus on solutions, and work together to gain consensus. 

i) Communicate via appropriate (e.g. local Facebook) user groups to 

demonstrate an inclusive approach and work on a ‘no surprises’ basis 

with officers, the community and other partners to assess community 

challenges, present options and advise of decisions. 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



-1- 
 
Constitution Review Group 
24 February 2021 
 

 
 

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the CONSTITUTION REVIEW GROUP held on Wednesday 24 
February 2021 at 6.30 pm via MS Teams 

 
PRESENT: Councillors T.Kingsbury (Chairman) 

F.Thomson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

  M.Cowan, G.Hayes, F.Marsh, K.Thorpe and S.Wrenn 
 

 
OFFICIALS 
PRESENT: 

N.Long, Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance) 
M Martinus, Head of Law and Administration 
A.Marston, Governance Services Manager 
J.Anthony, Principal Governance Officer 
 

 

 
63. MINUTES 

 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2020 were approved as a 
correct record and noted by the Chairman. 
 

64. PROPOSED DRAFT REPORT TO COUNCIL 17 MARCH 2021 
 
The Group reviewed a draft report proposed to be submitted to Full Council on 
17 March 2021 on the operation of the new Scrutiny Arrangements and Adoption 
of the Local Government Association (LGA) Model Code of Conduct. 
 
The Group made the following observations: 
 

- The report should note that developing the Council’s scrutiny arrangement 
is an ongoing process 

- Paragraph 1.1 of the draft report needed to be updated to refer to the LGA 
Model Code of Conduct 

- Appendix C of the proposed new Code of Conduct seems to have a 
misplaced section. Best practice 11 seems to combine two separate 
paragraphs (as indicated by the two fonts in use) 

- Appendix E of the proposed new Code of Conduct contains the already 
agreed Social Media Protocol. However the wording of paragraph 3.2(h) 
may be viewed as being overly restrictive and preventing legitimate 
criticism of actions taken by the Council 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



-2- 
 
Constitution Review Group 
24 February 2021 
 

 
 

AGREED: 
 

- That subject to the minor amendments discussed and agreed by the 
Group, the draft report should go forward to Council on 17 March 2021 for 
consideration and recommendation for approval. 

 
65. CURRENT PROTOCOL: OPERATION OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
The Group shared their views on the current scrutiny protocols.   
 
The Group made the following observations on the operation of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (OSC): 
 

- The system was still bedding in but the overall impression was that it was 
working well 

- Whilst views on the new scrutiny arrangements had been collected from 
the OSC Chair, Vice Chairs and Task and Finish Panel Chairs, a survey 
of all the Members of the OSC should be undertaken for review at a future 
meeting of this Group 

- More training was needed for OSC Members to ensure they were as 
effective as they could be 

- It was noted that the current number of  five Members on Task and Finish 
Panels generally  worked well, ensuring all voices were heard and a 
collaborative and engaged approach was taken 

 
The Group made the following specific observations on call in arrangements: 
 

- It was noted that the Local Government Act 2000 which introduced the 
new scrutiny framework did not define which decisions could/should be 
subject to call in arrangements, but statutory guidance did refer to 
reserving this for “key decisions”. The Council’s Constitution had followed 
the guidance and specified that only “key decisions” could be called in, 
providing a definition as to what constituted a key decision. However other 
councils appear to have a wider scope in place. This meant there was an 
opportunity for the Council to consider widening the types of executive 
decisions that could be called in 

- There was recognition that widening the types of decisions that could be 
called in could improve the scrutiny arrangements in place. However there 
was also recognition that too wide a definition could be abused. Officers 
were asked to investigate what other councils do and propose some 
options which the Group could consider 

- There was a view that irrespective of the above, Executive Member 
Decision Notices should be excluded.  

- It was noted that Urgent decisions were excluded from being called in. 
This was explained as being in place to allow decisions to be made and 
actioned without delay, although this did not prevent post decision 
scrutiny to occur 
 

Page 62



-3- 
 
Constitution Review Group 
24 February 2021 
 

 
 

 
 
The Group made the following observations on the Information Hub: 
 

- Much had been achieved over the last municipal year in modernising the 
scrutiny function and developing digital and remote resources 

- Some training had been delivered for using MS Teams, but as more 
functionalities were introduced, updated training (for both Members and 
Officers) was required. This should coincide with system updates required 
for Council issued iPads 

- The Information Hubs were welcomed, but it was accepted that this was 
still ‘work in progress’ and further liaison should take place with Heads of 
Service, to ensure Service Teams were proactively uploading the right 
information for Members to review 

- In particular, Members were keen to see KPI reports 
- There may be merit in uploading previous reports in order to create a 

library of information for Members to access 
- As more information is uploaded on a regular basis, a summary 

notification (potentially weekly) informing Members of what information 
has been made available would be useful 

 
66. DATES OF MEETINGS 

 
The Group noted that this was the last meeting of the municipal year.   
 
Members took the opportunity to thank Officers, in particular the Head of Law 
and Administration and Governance Services Manager, for their work over the 
last year. It was recognised that a significant programme of modernisation and 
digitisation had been successfully undertaken and had allowed the Council to 
effectively respond to the challenges posed by the Covid pandemic. 
 
The Group also recognised that Members had, despite differing opinions, 
continued to work productively together in a constructive atmosphere. This had 
undoubtedly brought benefits to the Council and its residents.  
 

67. SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 
 
 
Special Council 
 
The Group briefly discussed the arrangements for agreeing the Budget and the 
use of the Special Council meeting.  It was noted that it would be good to ensure 
the Full Council’s time was utilised appropriately.  Officers were asked to 
investigate the current arrangements and compare it with other councils before 
reporting back to the Group. 
 
 
 

Page 63



-4- 
 
Constitution Review Group 
24 February 2021 
 

 
 

Substitution 
 
With the current increased use of day-time meetings, and meetings starting 
before 7.30pm, it had been noted that the current provisions for substitutions 
needed to be amended. Currently the Constitution states that substitutions must 
be notified by 5pm of the day of the relevant meeting.  It was acknowledged that 
there were good practical reasons for sufficient notice to be given before the 
start of a meeting. The Group considered a proposal for the Constitution to be 
updated to change the current 5pm deadline, to a deadline of 2 hours before the 
scheduled start of the meeting. 
 
 
AGREED 
 

- That the Head of Law and Administration, under her delegated powers, 
make a minor amendment to the Council’s Constitution to change the 
current deadline for notice of substitutions from 5pm on the day of the 
meeting to 2 hours before the scheduled start of the meeting. 

 
 
Meeting ended at 7.13 pm 
JA 

 

Page 64


	Agenda
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8a Corporate Plan 2021-2024
	8a - Corporate Plan 2021-24 - March 2021 [NEW]
	8a - Corporate Plan 2021-24 - Appendix A
	8a - Corporate Plan appendix B - Place narrative v2

	9 NOTICES OF MOTIONS
	10 REVIEW OF OPERATION OF SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS AND ADOPTION OF LGA MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT
	10 - CRG Recommendations report - Appendix A - Minutes CRG 2020.12.14
	10 - CRG Recommendations report - Appendix B - Extracted Minute from Standards 8 Feb
	10 - CRG Recommendations report - Appendix C - LGA Model Councillor Code of Conduct Dec 2020 (with One Team and Social Media Protocol)
	10 - CRG Recommendations report - Appendix D - Minutes CRG 2021.02.24




